Review Considerations and Mitigation Guide for Habitat of the Grass Pickerel (Esox americanus vermiculatus)

G.A. Coker, D.L. Ming, and N.E. Mandrak

Ontario Great Lakes Area Fisheries and Oceans Canada PO Box 5050, 867 Lakeshore Rd. Burlington, Ontario L7R 4A6

APR 20 2011

2010

Canadian Manuscript Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 2941

Canadian Manuscript Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences

Manuscript reports contain scientific and technical information that contributes to existing knowledge but which deals with national or regional problems. Distribution is restricted to institutions or individuals located in particular regions of Canada. However, no restriction is placed on subject matter, and the series reflects the broad interests and policies of Fisheries and Oceans Canada, namely, fisheries and aquatic sciences.

Manuscript reports may be cited as full publications. The correct citation appears above the abstract of each report. Each report is abstracted in the data base *Aquatic Sciences and Fisheries Abstracts*.

Manuscript reports are produced regionally but are numbered nationally. Requests for individual reports will be filled by the issuing establishment listed on the front cover and title page.

Numbers 1-900 in this series were issued as Manuscript Reports (Biological Series) of the Biological Board of Canada, and subsequent to 1937 when the name of the Board was changed by Act of Parliament, as Manuscript Reports (Biological Series) of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada. Numbers 901-1425 were issued as Manuscript Reports of the Fisheries Board of Canada. Numbers 1426 -1550 were issued as Department of Fisheries and the Environment, Fisheries and Marine Service Manuscript Reports. The current series name was changed with report number 1551.

Rapport manuscrit canadien des sciences halieutiques et aquatiques

Les rapports manuscrits contiennent des renseignements scientifiques et techniques qui constituent une contribution aux connaissances actuelles, mais qui traitent de problèmes nationaux ou régionaux. La distribution en est limitée aux organismes et aux personnes de régions particulières du Canada. Il n'y a aucune restriction quant au sujet; de fait, la série reflète la vaste gamme des intérêts et des politiques de Pêches et Océans Canada, c'est-à-dire les sciences halieutiques et aquatiques.

Les rapports manuscrits peuvent être cités comme des publications à part entière. Le titre exact figure au-dessus du résumé de chaque rapport. Les rapports manuscrits sont résumés dans la base de données *Résumés des sciences aquatiques et halieutiques*.

Les rapports manuscrits sont produits à l'échelon régional, mais numérotés à l'échelon national. Les demandes de rapports seront satisfaites par l'établissement auteur dont le nom figure sur la couverture et la page du titre.

Les numéros 1 à 900 de cette série ont été publiés à titre de Manuscrits (série biologique) de l'Office de biologie du Canada, et après le changement de la désignation de cet organisme par décret du Parlement, en 1937, ont été classés comme Manuscrits (série biologique) de l'Office des recherches sur les pêcheries du Canada. Les numéros 901 à 1425 ont été publiés à titre de Rapports manuscrits de l'Office des recherches sur les pêcheries du Canada. Les numéros 1426 à 1550 sont parus à titre de Rapports manuscrits du Service des pêches et de la mer, ministère des Pêches et de l'Environnement. Le nom actuel de la série a été établi lors de la parution du numéro 1551.

Canadian Manuscript Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 2941

2010

REVIEW CONSIDERATIONS AND MITIGATION GUIDE FOR HABITAT OF THE GRASS PICKEREL (Esox americanus vermiculatus)

by

G.A. Coker¹, D.L. Ming², and N.E. Mandrak³

Ontario Great Lakes Area Fisheries and Oceans Canada PO Box 5050, 867 Lakeshore Rd. Burlington, Ontario L7R 4A6

¹ C. Portt and Associates, 56 Waterloo Avenue, Guelph, Ontario N1H 3H5

² Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Ontario Great Lakes Area, Fish Habitat Management, 867 Lakeshore Road, Burlington, Ontario L7R 4A6

³ Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Great Lakes Laboratory for Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 867 Lakeshore Road, Burlington, Ontario L7R 4A6

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, 2010. Cat. No. Fs 97-4/2941E ISSN 0706-6473

Correct citation for this publication:

Coker, G.A., Ming, D.L., and Mandrak, N.E. 2010. Review considerations and mitigation guide for habitat of the Grass Pickerel (*Esox americanus vermiculatus*). Can. Manuscr. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 2941: vi + 18 p.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	i∖
LIST OF FIGURES	i∨
ABSTRACT	v
INTRODUCTION	1
BACKGROUND INFORMATION	2
ECOLOGICAL SIGNIFICANCEGENERAL HABITATSPAWNING	2
ADAPTABILITY THREATS TO THE GRASS PICKEREL	4
CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE PLANNING AND REVIEW OF PROPOSED WORKS THAT MAY IMPACT GRASS PICKEREL HABITAT	. 4
DIRECT DESTRUCTION AND ALTERATION OF HABITAT Mechanism of Potential Impacts	. 5
POLLUTION AND DEGRADATION OF WATER QUALITY	. 6 . 6
SILTATION OF WETLANDS AND WATERCOURSES Mechanism of Potential Impacts Alternatives and Mitigation	. 7 . 7
LOW WATER LEVELS	. 8
DIVERSION OF COLD OR COOL WATER INTO GRASS PICKEREL HABITAT Mechanism of Potential Impacts Alternatives and Mitigation	. 8
MITIGATION GUIDANCE PROVIDED IN THE DRAFT MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR THE GRASS PICKEREL	. 9
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	10
REFERENCES	10

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	. Threats to the	Grass Pickere	and potentially	relevant Pathways	of Effects	12

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Grass Pickerel	13
Figure 2. Grass Pickerel habitat in southern Ontario	
Figure 3. Grass Pickerel habitat in southern Ontario	15
Figure 4. Grass Pickerel habitat in southern Ontario	16
Figure 5. Grass Pickerel habitat in southern Ontario, April 16, 2009	17
Figure 6. Grass Pickerel habitat in southern Ontario, April 29, 2009	18

ABSTRACT

Coker, G.A., Ming, D.L., and Mandrak, N.E. 2010. Review considerations and mitigation guide for habitat of the Grass Pickerel (*Esox americanus vermiculatus*). Can. Manuscr. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 2941: vi + 18 p.

The Grass Pickerel (*Esox americanus vermiculatus*) is a member of the Pike family and a subspecies of the Redfin Pickerel (*Esox americanus*). The Canadian distribution includes southwestern Quebec and southern Ontario. It has been designated as a species of Special Concern by the Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada and is listed on Schedule 1 of the federal *Species at Risk Act*. The Grass Pickerel frequently occupies the niche of top predator in heavily vegetated, shallow, low velocity habitats where habitat conditions are unsuitable for larger top-predators. Despite being rather resilient to natural variations in environmental conditions, Grass Pickerel has fairly specific habitat requirements that result in a highly disjunct distribution in Ontario. Threats to this species include, but are not limited to, habitat degradation and destruction through channel alterations that result in the loss of aquatic vegetation and other cover types, as well as the loss of low-velocity and shallow habitats. Mitigation strategies are proposed to minimize the impacts of watercourse modifications to this species.

RÉSUMÉ

Coker, G.A., Ming, D.L., and Mandrak, N.E. 2010. Review considerations and mitigation guide for habitat of the Grass Pickerel (*Esox americanus vermiculatus*). Can. Manuscr. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 2941: vi + 18 p.

Le brochet vermiculé (Esox americanus vermiculatus) est un membre de la famille des brochets et une sous-espèce du brochet d'Amérique (Esox americanus). Son aire de répartition canadienne comprend le sud-ouest du Québec et le sud de l'Ontario. Il a été désigné comme une espèce préoccupante par le Comité sur la situation des espèces en péril au Canada et figure à l'annexe 1 de la Loi sur les espèces en péril fédérale. Le brochet vermiculé occupe souvent la niche du prédateur supérieur dans les habitats peu profonds, à forte végétation et à courant réduit, où les conditions sont défavorables aux plus grands prédateurs supérieurs. Malgré sa résilience aux variations naturelles des conditions ambiantes, le brochet vermiculé a des exigences assez précises en matière d'habitat qui donnent lieu à une répartition très disjointe de l'espèce en Ontario. Les menaces à celle-ci comprennent, entre autres, la dégradation et la destruction de l'habitat causées par les modifications des chenaux, lesquelles entraînent la perte de végétation aquatique et d'autres types de couvert, de même que la perte d'habitats à courant réduit et peu profonds. Des stratégies d'atténuation sont proposées pour réduire au minimum les répercussions des modifications des cours d'eau sur cette espèce.

INTRODUCTION

The Grass Pickerel (*Esox americanus vermiculatus*) (Figure 1) is a part of the Esocidae family, of which Northern Pike (*Esox lucius*) and Muskellunge (*E. masquinongy*) are well-known members. It is one of the few North American fish subspecies with a formally recognized common name, being a subspecies of the Redfin Pickerel (*E. americanus*). The native global distribution of *Esox americanus* is restricted to the eastern half of North America, with the Grass Pickerel subspecies occurring in the central Mississippi valley and the southern Great Lakes basin, the Redfin Pickerel subspecies (*E. a. americanus*) occurring on the east Atlantic slope, and intergrades between the two subspecies occurring on the Gulf of Mexico slope (Jenkins and Burkhead 1993). In Canada, the Grass Pickerel is limited to extreme southwestern Quebec and southern Ontario (COSEWIC 2005).

The Grass Pickerel has been designated "Special Concern" in Canada since May 2005, based upon the most recent status report of the Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC 2005), and is listed in Schedule 1 of the Species At Risk Act (SARA). Schedule 1 is the official list of wildlife species at risk in Canada. The reason for designation is that it is only known from 10 locations between Lake St. Louis, Quebec and Lake Huron, Ontario, and an overall decline of approximately 22% in the area of occupancy has been observed since 1970. This decline appears to be related to degradation and loss of habitat due to channelization and dredging operations in wetland habitats where this species occurs (COSEWIC 2005).

The purposes of the SARA are to prevent wildlife species from being extirpated or becoming extinct, to provide for the recovery of wildlife species that are extirpated, endangered or threatened as a result of human activity, and to manage species of special concern to prevent them from becoming endangered or threatened. The Minister of Fisheries and Oceans is responsible for aquatic species listed under the SARA, including freshwater fishes and mussels. Once a species is listed on Schedule 1 under the SARA, it becomes illegal to kill, harass, capture or harm it in any way. Critical habitats are also protected from destruction. The *Act* also requires that recovery strategies, action plans and management plans be developed for all listed species. Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) is responsible for the coordination of recovery strategies and action plans for endangered and threatened aquatic species at risk. It is important to remember that there may be provincial and/or municipal and/or Conservation Authority policies that also pertain to species at risk.

This document provides a summary of Grass Pickerel life history and habitat information for government regulators and project proponents, pertinent to the assessment of development projects or other phenomena that affect Grass Pickerel habitat. Potential strategies to mitigate the harmful alteration, disruption and destruction of Grass Pickerel habitat are also provided.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

ECOLOGICAL SIGNIFICANCE

The Grass Pickerel is often the top predator in fish communities of which it is characteristic (COSEWIC 2005) and may have a significant role in the control of populations of small fishes (Jenkins and Burkhead 1993). Grass Pickerel is tolerant of a broad range of temperature, oxygen, and some stream physical habitat components, and may utilize an ecological niche in shallow, densely vegetated, habitats that larger top predators cannot. A broad complex of warmwater species is usually associated with the Grass Pickerel (Scott and Crossman 1973).

GENERAL HABITAT

The usual habitat for Grass Pickerel is water of mildly acidic to slightly basic nature, clear to tea coloured, with very slow to no flow, generally shallower than 2 m, with abundant to dense submerged, floating, and emergent aquatic vegetation (COSEWIC 2005). It is a resident of small, slow moving, mud or muck bottomed, heavily vegetated lowland streams and the small pond-like expansions of those streams, or overflow ponds of larger streams. Less commonly, it is found in quiet weedy bays of lakes (Crossman 1962; Scott and Crossman 1973). Although Canadian Grass Pickerel populations are usually associated with mud substrates, they have been found in areas of gravel and rock (COSEWIC 2005). Photographs of common Grass Pickerel habitat are presented in Figures 2 to 6.

The Grass Pickerel reportedly moves infrequently, and only for short distances, to hunt for food and shelter (Crossman 1962; Becker 1983), although spawning aggregations have been reported in lakes (Kleinert and Mraz 1966). Preliminary results of a study in Beaver Creek, a Niagara stream, indicate that some PIT-tagged individuals moved approximately 4 km within several months of being tagged in May (J. Barnucz, DFO, 867 Lakeshore Road, Burlington, Ontario, L7R 4A6, pers. comm.).

Grass Pickerel is an ambush predator and is found in low velocity habitats. Cain et al. (2008) reported that all individuals captured in their study (n=378) were found in low flow areas, generally runs or pools - none were captured in riffles. Becker (1983) stated that Grass Pickerel attains its highest population densities in shallow weedy locations. The vegetative communities typically occupied by Grass Pickerel are similar to that in which Northern Pike and Muskellunge are found, and include representatives of the pondweeds (*Potamogeton* spp.), coontail (*Ceratophyllum* spp.), water lilies (*Nymphaea* spp. and *Nuphar* spp.), and *Chara* (COSEWIC 2005). In a Wisconsin study, plants associated with Grass Pickerel were moss (*Dreplanocladus* spp.), water lilies, pondweeds, filamentous algae, and Broadleaf Cattail (*Typha latifolia*) (Kleinert and Mraz 1966). Ming noted that in Oklahoma it was sometimes found in rock or gravel pools without vegetation, associated in these cases with a brush pile or overhanging bush (as cited in COSEWIC 2005, pg. 8). Cain et al. (2008) reported that at all nine Grass Pickerel capture sites where microhabitat analysis was conducted, Grass Pickerel was

associated with either aquatic macrophytes (n=7) or woody debris (n=2), and that relative abundance of these cover types was positively correlated (r^2 =0.57, p=0.03) with Grass Pickerel catch. While the substrate associated with Canadian populations is usually mud or muck, it is known to occur in areas of gravel and rock (COSEWIC 2005). The frequency of substrates encountered with this species in Wisconsin habitats is listed as sand (21%), gravel (21%), mud (17%), clay (13%), rubble (13%), silt (8%), and boulders (8%) (Becker 1983). In winter, Grass Pickerel may burrow in mats of fallen leaves (Etnier and Starnes 1993).

COSEWIC (2005) stated that the water is characteristically clear in Grass Pickerel habitat, but Becker (1983) stated that it is found in clear to turbid water. Trautman (1981) observed that Grass Pickerel decreased in numbers, or became extirpated, wherever an increase in turbidity destroyed the aquatic vegetation. Increases in turbidity had a negative impact on Grass Pickerel feeding in Long Point Bay (COSEWIC 2005).

The preferred water temperature for Grass Pickerel is 26°C (Crossman 1962; Wismer and Christie 1987); however, it tolerates temperatures up to 29°C, which is an adaptation to shallow, still-waters that can warm rapidly (Scott and Crossman 1973; Coad et al. 1995). Cain et al. (2008) reported Grass Pickerel surviving in streams with water temperatures as high as 32°C in Indiana. The Grass Pickerel is also adapted to low dissolved oxygen levels, as low as 0.4 - 0.3 mg/L (Crossman 1962; Scott and Crossman 1973), which allows it to utilize heavily vegetated, slow moving or still, shallow water that can become depleted of oxygen at night due to plant respiration.

SPAWNING

In Ontario, spawning takes place in water temperatures approximately 8-12°C (late March to early May), eggs hatch in 11-15 days at temperatures of 7.8-8.9°C, and the time period between spawning to initiation of feeding by young is 2-5 weeks depending on water temperature (COSEWIC 2005). Becker (1983) stated that spawning occurs at 4.4-11.7°C. No nest is built; the eggs are broadcast and abandoned, settling and adhering to vegetation (Becker 1983). Besides the main spring spawning period, there is evidence that a low intensity fall spawning occurs (Crossman 1962; Kleinert and Mraz 1966).

Neither reproductive migration nor homing are known (COSEWIC 2005), although, some older published sources refer to spawning migrations (Crossman 1962; Scott and Crossman 1973), which are apparently based upon even older sources, or upon the assumption that the spawning behaviour of the Grass Pickerel would be similar to that of Northern Pike (*Esox lucius*), which does migrate. However, there is evidence that local movement to preferred spawning habitat does occur. Kleinert and Mraz (1966) observed that Grass Pickerel aggregated in a shallow slough attached to Pleasant Lake, Wisconsin, which warmed more quickly than the rest of the lake in the spring. The slough could become dry during periods of low precipitation. Although a few Grass Pickerel could be seen scattered about the other shorelines and bays of the lake.

suggesting that spawning occurred in many locations, eggs and fry were abundant only in the slough and were difficult to find elsewhere in the lake. During the spawning period, Grass Pickerel was most often seen in groups of two to six or more fishes in the shallow water bordering the margin of the slough (Kleinert and Mraz 1966). In support of these observations, adults of the closely related Redfin Pickerel congregate in small groups to spawn in shallow, heavily vegetated areas such as flooded pond banks or stream margins (Jenkins and Burkhead 1993), as well as in floodplains, overflow areas, and along grassy stream banks (Smith 1985). Such floodplain habitats in the Niagara area also act as nursery habitat for Grass Pickerel (J. Barnucz, DFO, 867 Lakeshore Road, Burlington, Ontario, L7R 4A6, pers. comm.).

ADAPTABILITY

As exemplified by its highly disjunct distribution in Ontario, the Grass Pickerel has rather specific habitat requirements. However, it is highly resilient to the natural extremes in water level, flow, and temperature that are typical for its preferred habitat (Scott and Crossman 1973). Where suitable habitat is present, it may be found in relatively high numbers inside and outside of its native range (COSEWIC 2005).

THREATS TO THE GRASS PICKEREL

All conditions resulting in low water levels, loss of aquatic vegetation, decreased water transparency, and lowering of stream temperatures are threats to the Grass Pickerel (COSEWIC 2005). Other potential threats are the general degradation of water quality, the fragmentation of habitats, and the loss of still-water habitats.

The DFO Risk Management Framework (RMF) contains a complex list of Pathways of Effects (PoEs) that identify the various impacts upon fish habitat due to a particular activity, upon which mitigating actions can be applied. Table 1 lists the potential threats to the Grass Pickerel and the associated PoEs (Coker et al. 2010). For more information on the RMF, refer to DFO's *Practitioner's Guide to the Risk Management Framework for DFO Habitat Management Staff Version 1.0* (DFO 2006).

CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE PLANNING AND REVIEW OF PROPOSED WORKS THAT MAY IMPACT GRASS PICKEREL HABITAT

The effects of urbanization and agricultural practices upon watercourses and waterbodies, either through direct impacts within these areas, or through indirect impacts from adjacent land-use practices, encompass most of the threats to Grass Pickerel populations. The following impacts on and potential mitigation measures for Grass Pickerel habitat should be considered in project planning and review.

DIRECT DESTRUCTION AND ALTERATION OF HABITAT

Mechanism of Potential Impacts

The alteration of watercourses and associated wetlands, through ditching, channelization, deepening, or filling, can remove the cover, either aquatic vegetation or woody debris, that is an important component of Grass Pickerel habitat and the shallow vegetated habitats required for spawning. If the watercourse is sufficiently deepened, or the substrate altered, the aquatic vegetation may not regenerate to its original quantity or quality. Trautman (1981) noted that the Grass Pickerel decreased in numbers, or became extirpated, wherever ditching, dredging, or other forms of channelization destroyed its habitat, or where an increase in turbidity destroyed the aquatic vegetation. The ditching, channelization, and deepening of watercourses may also reduce or eliminate fish access to the flood plain, including sloughs and oxbow ponds, where spawning and nursery habitats may exist.

Negative impacts to Grass Pickerel may occur where the alteration of a watercourse results in the elimination or reduction of still-water habitats. The channelization of pool/riffle habitats results in the homogenization of flow velocity, reducing or eliminating both riffles and pools (pools are preferred by Grass Pickerel). Carline and Kloseiwski (1985) found that the density of Grass Pickerel increased significantly after the installation of wing deflectors within a previously channelized watercourse, which resulted in the development of a meandering flow pattern, the creation of pools, and an increase in the area of rooted macrophytes.

The results of a statistical analysis of Grass Pickerel habitat at 125 stream locations in Indiana (Cain et al. 2008) found that habitat use was primarily based upon the presence of in-stream cover and slow moving water. Grass Pickerel was always found in association with cover in the form of either aquatic macrophytes (77%) or logs/woody debris (23%). It was not found in riffle habitats. In addition, there was an associated increase in Grass Pickerel catch when the proportion of these cover types increased. Although Trautman (1981) stated that Grass Pickerel in Ohio has been shown to decrease in numbers or become extirpated in streams where channelization has destroyed habitat, Cain et al. (2008) found that Grass Pickerel will survive in areas of poor water quality as long as cover is present.

Alternatives and Mitigation

For the construction or rehabilitation of natural watercourses containing Grass Pickerel, the use of natural channel design principles must provide shallow areas of quiet water where submergent vegetation can establish and be maintained. Early spring flooded backwater areas for Grass Pickerel spawning habitat must remain flooded for at least 2-5 weeks, once their preferred spawning temperature is reached.

In the case of drain maintenance, it is important to identify the true cause of the drainage problem, which may result in employing strategies such as limited or spot cleanouts that will minimize habitat disruption, rather than an overall headwater to outlet

approach. There may also be opportunities for the maintenance or development of areas that are seasonally flooded to a depth and length of time suitable for Grass Pickerel spawning with little impact upon agricultural land utilization. Other locations within a drain may be suitable for the construction of in-channel spawning terraces.

Another mitigation strategy to protect Grass Pickerel habitat from the impacts of drain maintenance activities is a phased approach to the cleanout of a drain. This concept involves cleaning out some sections of a drain while ensuring that other sections are left untouched until the habitat function of the maintained (dredged) sections return. Another strategy to mitigate the effects of drain maintenance would be to create pool habitat and provide cover, either woody debris or aquatic vegetation. Grass Pickerel has been observed in "pools" that had been dug wider and deeper than the rest of the watercourse for livestock watering during dry periods (C. Portt and G. Coker, C. Portt and Associates, 56 Waterloo Avenue, Guelph, Ontario N1H 3H5, pers. comm.).

Potential impacts from point-impact projects such as water crossings (e.g., culverts/bridges, pipelines) can be mitigated by using appropriate in-water work timing windows and sediment controls, and ensuring that fish passage is not permanently impaired. A reduction in Grass Pickerel abundance, likely due to the lack of adequate sediment controls, was observed at the site of a bridge on Twenty Mile Creek, Ontario, soon after it was rebuilt (N.E. Mandrak, DFO, 867 Lakeshore Road, Burlington, Ontario L7R 4A6, pers. comm.). Temporary disruptions to fish passage (e.g., temporary cofferdams to isolate and dewater a water crossing during construction or replacement) that occur outside of the early spring and fall periods, when Grass Pickerel is not expected to move between spawning areas and overwintering habitats, will likely have little detrimental effect upon Grass Pickerel populations. These projects should have little permanent impact upon the typically long stretches of Grass Pickerel habitats that occur in low-gradient watercourses.

POLLUTION AND DEGRADATION OF WATER QUALITY

Mechanism of Potential Impacts

Runoff from urban landscapes can contain pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers from ornamental landscaping application; spills of chemicals and fuels; seasonal dumping of heavily chlorinated water from private swimming pools; and, de-icing salt applied to roads during the winter. Runoff from rural/agricultural landscapes typically contains pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers that have been applied to crops. Cattle access to streams and runoff from stockyards can result in nutrient inputs. Besides the toxic effects of some of these pollutants upon Grass Pickerel and other stream organisms, excess algae growth due to nutrient inputs can also negatively impact aquatic plants and dissolved oxygen levels. However, Grass Pickerel is tolerant of low dissolved oxygen concentrations (Crossman 1962; Scott and Crossman 1973).

Water temperature, turbidity, conductivity, and dissolved oxygen data were collected at 83 sites in Indiana (Cain et al. 2008). Values for all of these factors, except

temperature, were significantly related to Grass Pickerel catch, but the relationships were biologically weak. Grass Pickerel tolerated a liberal range of water quality conditions (Cain et al. 2008). Grass Pickerel was also found in association with both pollution tolerant species (Bluntnose Minnow (*Pimephales notatus*), Creek Chub (*Semotilus atromaculatus*), Green Sunfish (*Lepomis cyanellus*), White Sucker (*Catostomus commersonii*) and Yellow Bullhead (*Ameiurus natalis*)), and pollution intolerant species (Bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*) and Longear Sunfish (*Lepomis megalotis*)). Cain et al. (2008) concluded that the limiting factors for Grass Pickerel abundance in Indiana streams did not appear to be water quality related, but rather, tied to in-stream cover.

Alternatives and Mitigation

Adequate vegetated buffer zones along watercourses in both urban and rural settings can mitigate much of the overland transport and input of pollutants. Cattle and other livestock can be excluded from watercourses by fencing. Where pollutants find their way into storm sewer systems that discharge to Grass Pickerel habitat, appropriate stormwater quality treatment facilities should be installed to reduce these inputs.

SILTATION OF WETLANDS AND WATERCOURSES

Mechanism of Potential Impacts

Runoff from construction sites, streets and parking lots, and tilled fields can carry soil particles as bedload or suspended soil particles that can gradually fill wetlands and low-gradient watercourses and, at high concentrations, can also smother aquatic plants and benthic organisms. Very fine soil particles can remain suspended in the water column, blocking the sunlight necessary for submergent aquatic plant growth that is an important component of Grass Pickerel habitat. Turbid water at a duration and intensity commensurate with a seasonally typical rainstorm event is likely little threat to Grass Pickerel habitat; however, turbidity of extended duration or high intensity may negatively impact submergent aquatic plants. Cattle access to streams can result in the suspension of sediments and trampling of macrophytes. Trautman (1981) noted that the Grass Pickerel decreased in numbers when increased turbidity destroyed the aquatic vegetation. Increases in turbidity can also have a negative impact on Grass Pickerel feeding (COSEWIC 2005).

Alternatives and Mitigation

Grass Pickerel tends to be found in low gradient habitats with fine substrates and, thus, are probably less at risk from siltation than fish species that rely upon coarse substrates. Adequate vegetated buffer zones along watercourses and wetlands in both urban and rural settings can mitigate much of the overland transport of sediment to these waterbodies. Standard soil conservation methods, such as no-till cropping, grassed waterways and sediment catch basins, can reduce sediment from agricultural lands entering watercourses and wetlands. Likewise, standard practices for keeping soils on construction sites can be used to limit impacts from these sources. Where

sediment finds its way into storm sewer systems that discharge to Grass Pickerel habitat, appropriate stormwater quality treatment facilities can remove some proportion of the suspended material.

LOW WATER LEVELS

Mechanism of Potential Impacts

Low water levels can be caused by drought, water extraction, and watercourse alteration that result in more efficient drainage. Besides reducing the habitat area available to Grass Pickerel, low surface water levels can also reduce access to shoreline, stream bank, or floodplain spawning and nursery areas. In a Wisconsin study, declining water levels due to drought, trapped and subsequently killed young and adult Grass Pickerel within a slough where spawning had occurred (Kleinert and Mraz 1966).

Alternatives and Mitigation

While little can be done to mitigate drought conditions, the effect upon Grass Pickerel habitat from changes in water levels caused by water extraction, watercourse alteration, or agricultural drain maintenance should be considered when evaluating the potential impacts of any proposed works or activities. Constructed refuge pools can provide habitat during dry periods, as concentrations of Grass Pickerel have been observed in "pools" that had been dug wider and deeper than the rest of the watercourse for livestock watering during dry periods (C. Portt and G. Coker, C. Portt and Associates, 56 Waterloo Avenue, Guelph, Ontario N1H 3H5, pers. comm.). If a fish habitat compensation plan includes the construction of Grass Pickerel habitat, multi-level spawning areas could be included that provide spawning habitat over the range of expected water levels.

DIVERSION OF COLD OR COOL WATER INTO GRASS PICKEREL HABITAT

Mechanism of Potential Impacts

Deepening of watercourses may intercept groundwater sources, possibly resulting in the lowering of water temperatures that may negatively impact this warmwater-adapted species. Infrastructure, such as sewers, water mains and foundation drains in buildings, can also intercept groundwater and divert it to watercourses. Stormwater management facilities can maintain flow and lower water temperatures in downstream watercourses for longer periods of time. Cooler water temperatures may have a detrimental impact upon Grass Pickerel, which is a warmwater species and at the northern limit of its range in southern Ontario and Quebec.

Alternatives and Mitigation

Avoiding or mitigating the effect of cool water discharge to important Grass Pickerel habitats should be considered during the construction of infrastructure or the deepening of watercourses. Stormwater management facilities can be designed to maintain or increase downstream water temperatures (e.g., top-draw or shallow facility).

MITIGATION GUIDANCE PROVIDED IN THE DRAFT MANAGEMENT PLAN FOR THE GRASS PICKEREL

In addition to the guidance provided above, the draft management plan for the Grass Pickerel (Beauchamp, J., Boyko, A.L., Hardy, D., Jarvis, P.L., Dunn, S., and Staton, S.K., In prep.¹) provides general guidance on how to minimize impacts from drainage works to Grass Pickerel and its habitat. The following section is a direct excerpt from this document:

Basic Principles to Minimize Impacts of Drainage Works on Grass Pickerel

In Ontario, Grass Pickerel spawn from late March to early May with a period of approximately two to five weeks between spawning and the initiation of feeding by young. Spawning appears to be associated with flooded vegetation at temperatures ranging from 4°C to 12°C.

Municipal drainage activities (e.g., drainage maintenance, improvements and new drainage works) are a major threat to Grass Pickerel in Canada. Drainage typically involves channelization, which is the straightening and deepening of a channel, dredging, the removal of in-stream material (including most if not all structure/cover) and, often times, the destruction of riparian vegetation. In general, activities such as channelization and dredging, will have more of an impact than point-impact projects, such as road crossings.

The following interim guidance on drainage activities has been provided to minimize impacts to Grass Pickerel habitat; where possible, design considerations should seek to:

- Ensure floodplain connection is maintained flooded vegetation must remain
 wet for ~5 weeks to support eggs and larvae within known or suspected
 Grass Pickerel spawning habitats. Projects should minimize impacts to the
 duration and extent to which floodplains are inundated
- Avoid projects within Grass Pickerel habitat during the spawning/hatching period (from mid-March to the end of May)
- Incorporate natural channel design principles to recreate habitat complexity
- Maintain pool habitats that act as overwintering and summer refugia
- Encourage 'spot clean-outs' to minimize maintenance footprint

¹contact S. Dunn, Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 304-3027 Harvester Rd., Burlington, ON L7R 4K3

- Control sedimentation before, during, and after work to maintain clear water conditions
- Where vegetation is impacted, re-establish or enhance vegetative buffers along the channel.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The assistance of Maude Tremblay, Jason Barnucz, Shelly Dunn, and Bob Randall in the preparation of this report is gratefully acknowledged.

REFERENCES

- Becker, G.C. 1983. Fishes of Wisconsin. Univ. of Wisconsin Press. Madison, Wisconsin. 1052 p.
- Cain, M.L., Lauer, T.E., and Lau, J.K. 2008. Habitat use of Grass Pickerel *Esox* americanus vermiculatus in Indiana streams. American Midland Naturalist 160: 96-109.
- Carline, R.F., and Kloseiwski, S.P. 1985. Responses of fish populations to mitigation structures in two small channelized streams in Ohio. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 5: 1-11.
- Coad, B.W., Waszczuk, H., and Labignan, I. 1995. Encyclopedia of Canadian fishes. Canadian Museum of Nature and Canadian Sportfishing Productions Inc. Waterdown, Ontario. 928 p.
- Coker, G.A., Ming, D.L., and Mandrak, N.E. 2010. Mitigation guide for the protection of fishes and fish habitat to accompany the Species at Risk Recovery Potential Assessments conducted by Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) in Central and Arctic Region. Version 1.0. Can. Manuscr. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 2904: vi + 40 p.
- COSEWIC (Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada). 2005. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the Grass Pickerel *Esox americanus vermiculatus* in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. vi + 27 p. http://dsp-psd.pwgsc.gc.ca/Collection/CW69-14-436-2005E.pdf (accessed March 2009).
- Crossman, E.J. 1962. The Grass Pickerel *Esox americanus vermiculatus* in Canada. Royal Ontario Museum, Contribution No. 55. 29 p.

- DFO (Fisheries and Oceans Canada). 2006. Practitioner's guide to the risk management framework for DFO Habitat Management staff. Version 1.0. Habitat Management Program, Fisheries and Oceans Canada. http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/oceans-habitat/habitat/policies-politique/operating-operation/risk-risques/index_e.asp (accessed March 2009).
- Etnier, D.A., and Starnes, W.C. 1993. The fishes of Tennessee. University of Tennessee Press. Knoxville, Tennessee. 681 p.
- Jenkins, R.E., and Burkhead, N.M. 1993. Freshwater fishes of Virginia. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland. 1079 p.
- Kleinert, S.J., and Mraz, D. 1966. Life history of the Grass Pickerel (*Esox americanus vermiculatus*) in southeastern Wisconsin. Wisconsin Conservation Department Technical Bulletin No. 37. 40 p.
- Scott, W.B., and Crossman, E.J. 1973. Freshwater fishes of Canada. Fisheries Research Board of Canada. Bulletin 183. Ottawa, Canada. 966 p.
- Smith, C.L. 1985. The inland fishes of New York State. New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, Albany, New York. 522 p.
- Trautman, M. B. 1981. The fishes of Ohio with illustrated keys. Revised Edition. Ohio State University Press, Columbus, Ohio. 782 p.
- Wismer, D. A., and Christie, A.E. 1987. Temperature relationships of Great Lakes fishes: a data compilation. Great Lakes Fishery Commission Special Publication 87-3. 165 p.

Table 1. Threats to the Grass Pickerel and potentially relevant Pathways of Effects.

Threats to the Grass Pickerel	Pathways of Effects
Low water levels	 Placement of material or structures in water Water extraction Dredging Change in timing, duration, or frequency of flow
Loss of aquatic vegetation	Vegetation clearing Riparian planting Streamside livestock grazing Placement of material or structures in water Dredging Addition or removal of aquatic vegetation Change in timing, duration, or frequency of flow
Decreased water transparency and general degradation of water quality	 Grading Excavation Use of industrial equipment Cleaning or maintenance of bridges or other structures Riparian planting Streamside livestock grazing Placement of material or structures in water Dredging Organic debris management Wastewater management Addition or removal of aquatic vegetation Change in timing, duration, or frequency of flow Structure removal
Lowering of stream temperatures	ExcavationRiparian plantingAddition or removal of aquatic vegetation
Fragmentation of habitat (barriers to fish movement)	 Placement of material or structures in water Dredging Change in timing, duration, or frequency of flow Fish passage issues
Loss of still-water habitats	 Dredging Placement of material or structures in water Change in timing, duration, or frequency of flow Structure removal



-

Figure 1. Grass Pickerel.



Photo credit: DFO 2009.

Figure 2. Grass Pickerel habitat in southern Ontario.



Photo credit: DFO 2009.

Figure 3. Grass Pickerel habitat in southern Ontario.



Figure 4. Grass Pickerel habitat in southern Ontario.



Photo credit: G. Coker 2009.

Figure 5. Grass Pickerel habitat in southern Ontario, April 16, 2009.

(Note that the vegetated habitat was observed to be continuously flooded for a minimum of one month.)



Photo credit: G. Coker 2009.

Figure 6. Grass Pickerel habitat in southern Ontario, April 29, 2009. (Note that the vegetated habitat was observed to be continuously flooded for a minimum of one month.)